IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

:

:

:

:

:

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

FREDERICK BAILEY, MARIO M. GOULD, and MARCUS GORDON,	
Petitioners, V.	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Respondent.	/

81621 CASE NO

1DCA CASE NO. 92-1064 92-1076 92-1243 (Consolidated)

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON JURISDICTION

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER FLA. BAR NO. 197890 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONERS

- ii -

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FREDERICK BAILEY, MARIO M. GOULD, and	:	
MARCUS GORDON,	:	CASE NO.
Petitioners, v.	:	1DCA CASE NO. 92-1064
STATE OF FLORIDA,	:	92-1076 92-1243
Respondent.	:	(Consolidated)
	:	

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON JURISDICTION

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioners were the defendants in the trial court and the appellees in the lower tribunal. Attached hereto as an appendix is the opinion of the lower tribunal dated March 30, 1993.

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The facts as related by the First District are essentially correct, and they will be recited here:

The state appeals orders which granted motions to dismiss in three criminal cases. The appeals have been consolidated because all involve the same issue. In each case, the trial court dismissed the information based upon its conclusion that section 893.13(1)(i), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1990), is unconstitutionally vague because the term "public housing facility" is undefined. Appendix at 1.

The First District held the statute to be constitutional, on authority of two prior decisions which are currently pending discretionary review in this Court:

> Subsequent to the trial court's decisions in these cases, this court has addressed the precise issue raised here, concluding that the statute is not unconstitutionally vague. Brown v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D173 (Fla. 1st DCA Dec. 30, 1992) [review pending, case no. 81,189]; Turner v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D773 (Fla. 1st DCA Mar. 16, 1993) [review pending, case no. 81,519]. Appendix at 2.

On April 19, 1993, a timely notice of discretionary review was filed, pursuant to Art. V, §3(3)(b)(3), Fla. Const., and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i), Fla.R.App.P.

III SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The First District's opinion in this case expressly declares valid the state statute creating the crime of sale of a controlled substance within 200 feet of a public housing facility, and increasing the penalty for sale from a second degree to a first degree felony. Further review by this Court is desirable, along with the prior Brown and Turner cases, which are pending review in this Court, so that the citizens of this state will know what type of conduct is prohibited. The First District's opinion in Brown assumed the general public knows what a "public housing facility" is, even though that term was never defined by the legislature and cannot be found in the dictionary. In fact, the dictionary definitions of these words would lead a person of common intelligence to believe that any place where people live is a protected area. This Court should accept review along with Brown and Turner and decide whether the statute is unconstitutionally vague on its face.

IV ARGUMENT

THE FIRST DISTRICT'S OPINION EXPRESSLY DECLARED VALID A STATE STATUTE AND FURTHER REVIEW BY THIS COURT IS DESIRABLE.

The First District's construction of Section 893.13(1)(i), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1990), is incorrect because it expressly declares valid an unconstitutionally vague statute. Section 893.13(1)(i) states, in pertinent part:

> it is unlawful for any person to sell, ... a controlled substance in, on, or within 200 feet of the real property comprising a public housing facility, ... (emphasis added).

Petitioners contended below that this statute related to public housing facilities violates State and Federal due process because it does not give notice of what is prohibited because "public housing facility" is not defined.

> It is constitutionally impermissible for a statute to contain such vague language that a person of common intelligence must speculate about its meaning and subject himself to punishment if his guess is wrong.

Bertens v. Stewart, 453 So. 2d 92, 93 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), citing State v. Wershow, 343 So. 2d 605 (Fla. 1977). A statute is unconstitutionally vague where it:

fails to give adequate notice of the conduct it prohibits and which, because of its imprecision, may also invite arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.

Id., citing <u>Southeastern Fisheries Assoc. v. Department of</u> <u>Natural Resources</u>, 453 So. 2d 1351 (Fla. 1984). In the absence of a statutory definition, case law, or related statutory provisions which define a statutory term, may be resorted to in order to determine the meaning of the term. Id. at 94.

The controversy in <u>Bertens</u> arose when a student, Gaesel Bertens, was suspended from school for violating a rule which prohibited personal possession of "medicine" at school because she gave some vitamins to two of her fifth grade classmates. <u>Id.</u> at 93. The Second District Court of Appeal held that the rule was unconstitutional because it failed to give adequate notice that is required under due process. <u>Id.</u> at 94-95.

In reaching its decision that the rule was impermissibly vague, the court noted that the school board's failure to define medicine, did not, in and of itself, render the rule unconstitutional. <u>Id.</u> at 94. Rather, the court looked to the "ordinary" meaning of the term "medicine." <u>Id.</u> at 94. After looking at the ordinary dictionary definition of medicine, the court concluded that the dictionary definition did not cure the infirmity and that the term "medicine" was impermissibly vague. Id. at 94.

Like the situation in <u>Bertens</u>, the term "public housing facility" is not defined in the drug abuse statute. A search of the Florida Statutes related to housing reveals there is no definition for the term "public housing facility."

Chapter 421, Florida Statutes, governs public housing. The term "public housing facility" does not appear therein. Section 421.03(9), Florida Statutes, defines housing projects as:

"Housing project" shall mean any work or undertaking:

(a) To demolish, clear, or remove buildings from any slum area; such work or undertaking may embrace the adaptation of such area to public purposes, including parks or other recreational or community purposes; or

(b) To provide decent, safe and sanitary urban or rural dwellings, apartments or other living accommodations for persons of low income; such work or undertaking may include buildings, land, equipment, facilities or other real or personal property for necessary, convenient or desirable appurtenances, streets, sewers, water service, parks, site preparation, gardening, administrative, community, health, recreational, educational, welfare or other purposes; or

(c) To accomplish a combination of the foregoing. The term "housing project" also may be applied to the planning of the buildings and improvements, the acquisition of property, the demolition of existing structures, the construction, restoration, alteration and repair of the improvements and all other work in connection therewith.

These definitions are not particularly helpful to understand what a "public housing facility" is. Any apartment, single family home, condominium, hotel, motel, mobile home, duplex, cabin, or tent, if available for use by the public, is a "public housing facility" within the statutory definition.

Because there is no statutory definition for "public housing facility," the words must be construed according to their plain meaning. <u>State v. Hagen</u>, 387 So. 2d 943 (Fla. 1980).

Webster's New World Dictionary (2d college ed.) defines the adjective "public" as:

б

 of, belonging to, or concerning the people as a whole; of or by the community at large
for the use or benefit of all; esp.
supported by government funds
as regards community, rather than private, affairs
acting in an official capacity on behalf of the people as a whole
known by, or open to the knowledge of, all or most people

Id. at 1149.

The noun "housing" is defined as:

the act of providing shelter or lodging
shelter or lodging; accommodation in houses, apartments, etc. ...
houses collectively
a shelter; covering

Id. at 681.

The noun "facility" is defined as:

 ease of doing or making; absence of difficulty
a ready ability; skill; dexterity; fluency
the means by which something can be done
a building, special room, etc. that facilitates or makes possible some activity

Id. at 501.

The dictionary definition of each individual word does not provide a satisfactory definition. The dictionary definition of the words together would lead a reasonable person to the conclusion that <u>any</u> type of housing available to the public would be a public housing facility. Surely, the legislature did not intend to elevate the penalty for drug offenses within 200 feet of any place where the public is able to reside.

Any apartment, single family home, condominium, hotel, motel, mobile home, duplex, cabin, or tent, if available for

use by the public, is a "public housing facility" within the dictionary definition.

Consequently, because the term "public housing facility" does not have a statutory definition, and there is no dictionary or plain and ordinary definition that provides a clear definition, the statute is unconstitutionally vague in that it fails to provide adequate notice of the prohibited conduct.

The First District's conclusion in <u>Brown</u> that the statute was constitutional because a person of ordinary intelligence "<u>should know</u> what was intended by the phrase" is patently erroneous. A vague statute cannot be saved by what a person "should know;" it can only be saved by the terms the legislature used in the statute. A person cannot be given the chance to guess what the words mean. This Court must accept review of this case along with Brown and <u>Turner</u>.

V CONCLUSION

Based upon the arguments presented here, the respondents respectfully ask this Court to grant and accept review in this case, along with <u>Brown</u> and <u>Turner</u>, because all significantly affect the rights of citizens of the state to know what criminal conduct is prohibited.

Respectfully submitted,

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER Fla. Bar no. 197890 Assistant Public Defender Chief, Appellate Division Leon County Courthouse Suite 401 301 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONERS