IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HILLE SID J. WHITE MAY 10 1993 CLERK, SUPREME COURTE By_____

Chief Deputy Clerk

FREDERICK BAILEY, MARIO M. GOULD, and MARCUS GORDON,

Petitioners,

v.

Case No.: 81,621

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #0325791

GYPSY BAILEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #0797200

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904)488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

Preliminary Statement

Respondent, the State of Florida, the prosecuting authority in the trial court and appellant below, will be referred to in this brief as the state. Petitioners, FREDERICK BAILEY, MARIO M. GOULD, and MARCUS GORDON, the defendants in the trial court and appellees below, will be referred to in this brief as petitioners.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state accepts petitioners' statement of the case and facts as reasonably supported by the record.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Supreme Court of Florida has jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly declares a state statute constitutional. Fla. Const. art. V, § 3(b)(3); Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The instant decision does not expressly declare a state statute valid. Nevertheless, this court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in this matter, based on <u>Thomas</u>'s direct and express conflict with <u>Brown</u>, upon which the instant decision is premised.

ARGUMENT

Issue

WHETHER STATE V. BAILEY, ET AL., 18 FLA. L. WEEKLY D850 (FLA. 1ST DCA MARCH 30, 1993), EXPRESSLY DECLARES A STATE STATUTE VALID.

The decision of the First District clearly shows that the court did not <u>expressly</u> declare a state statute valid. Rather, the court stated: "Subsequent to the trial court's decisions in these cases, this court has addressed the precise issue raised here, concluding that the statute is not unconstitutionally vague. <u>Brown v. State</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D173 (Fla. 1st DCA Dec. 30, 1992)^[1]; <u>Turner v.</u> <u>State</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D773 (Fla. 1st DCA Mar. 16, 1993).^[2] Accordingly, in all three cases, we reverse and remand with directions that the trial court reinstate the information." <u>State v. Bailey, et al.</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D850 (Fla. 1st DCA March 30, 1993).³

¹ <u>Brown</u> is pending before this Court in case number 81,189. It should be noted that <u>Brown</u> involves four challenges to the statute, only one of which is a challenge to its facial validity (vagueness). <u>Trushin v. State</u>, 425 So. 2d 1126, 1129-30 (Fla. 1983).

² <u>Turner</u> is pending before this Court in case number 81,519, and involves the exact issues presented in <u>Brown</u>.

³ It should be noted that the only issue in these consolidated cases was a challenge to the facial validity of the statute.

Petitioners' brief jurisdictional contention, 4 i.e., that the First District's acknowledgment of Brown and Turner of dismissal is an express in reversing the orders declaration that section 893.13(1)(i) is constitutional, might have had merit if made before the 1980 amendments to **R. App. P.** 9.030. Under the pre-1980 rule, a Fla. petitioner could invoke this Court's jurisdiction if a lower tribunal "inherently" declared a statute valid. Harrell's Candy Kitchen v. Sarasota-Manatee Airport Auth., 111 So. 2d 439 (Fla. 1959). However, since 1980, the rule has required an express declaration:⁵

The pertinent language of section 3(b)(3), as amended April 1, 1980, leaves no room for doubt. This Court may only review a decision of a district court of appeal that *expressly* [declares a state statute constitutional]. The dictionary definitions of the term

⁴ Petitioner's jurisdictional argument is relegated to the issue heading and the first sentence of his brief. The rest of his brief is devoted to a merits discussion, and as such, ordinarily should be disregarded by this Court pursuant to the express language of Fla. R. App. P. 9.120(d) (briefs on jurisdiction shall be "limited solely to the issue of the Supreme Court's jurisdiction . . ."). Nevertheless, the state appreciates that a petitioner seeking review on statutory validity must persuade this Court that (1) the court below expressly upheld the validity of the statute, and (2) the court below arguably was wrong and this Court should exercise its discretionary review.

⁵ The rule currently provides that the discretionary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court may be sought to review decisions of district courts of appeal that "expressly declare valid a state statute." Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i).

"express" include: "to represent in words"; "to give expression to." "Expressly" is defined: "in an express manner." Webster's Third New International Dictionary, (1961 ed. unabr.)

<u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980) (emphasis in original). <u>See also</u> Webster's Third New International Dictionary Expressly, at 803 (1981 ed.) ("in direct and unmistakable terms").

There can be no doubt that the only action taken by the First District in "unmistakable terms" was its reversal of the trial court's orders dismissing the informations charging petitioner with selling drugs within 200 feet of a pubic housing project, based on <u>Brown</u> and <u>Turner</u>. That court in no way declared section 893.13(1)(i) to be valid "in direct and unmistakable terms."

Despite petitioners' failure to show that the First District expressly declared a statute valid, the state nevertheless joins with petitioners in asking this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction. On April 21, 1993, the Second District found section 893.13(1)(i) to be unconstitutionally vague, a decision which is in direct and express conflict with <u>Brown</u>, <u>Turner</u>, and the instant decision. <u>See State v. Thomas, et al.</u>, Case Nos. 91-3496, etc. (Fla. 2d DCA Apr. 21, 1993). The state is seeking

- 5 -

review before this Court in <u>Thomas</u>.⁶ Because <u>Turner</u> and the instant decision are premised on <u>Brown</u>, and the <u>Thomas</u> opinion directly and expressly conflicts with <u>Brown</u>, this Court should exercise its jurisdiction in all four cases so as to speak once, consistently, and dispositively on the issue at hand.

⁶ The notice to invoke was filed in the Second District Court of Appeal on May 4, 1993.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above cited legal authorities and arguments, the state respectfully requests this Honorable Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in this matter.